1952

Gladys P. Hendricks v. Brigham Victor Hendricks : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff and defendant were married at Pocatello, Idaho, on June 30, 1943. (Tr. 10). This is a second marriage for both parties. Each of them have children by a previous marriage. (Tr. 10). The defendant is 57 and plaintiff is about the same age. (Tr. 83). At the time the parties herein were married, plaintiff resided at Logan, and defendant resided at Lewiston, Utah. Plaintiff had her furniture moved to defendant's home at Lewiston, and they lived there until July, 1946. (Tr. 12-13).

During the first year, defendant asked plaintiff to lend him \$1,300.00. (Tr. 30). In order to comply with his request and not having the money available, she made a bank loan of \$1,300.00, to be re-paid in monthly payments of \$50.00. (Tr. 56). Some time later, defendant re-paid \$200.00, but failed to repay the balance of \$1,100.00. (Tr. 30).

The record reveals that during the second and third years (1945-1946), defendant began to absent himself from their home for brief intervals, going away in his car, and remaining away for two or three days, without informing plaintiff of his intentions before leaving, and upon his return home he refused to inform plaintiff where he had been. (Tr. 15-17, 24-25). The defendant's conduct became progressively worse during the third year of their married life, with respect to leaving home without informing plaintiff where he was going or where he had been, (Tr. 24-25) and he also refused to take the plaintiff into his confidence with respect to what he was doing with his farm income. Defendant continued to leave home and remain away for several days at a time, and frequent quarrels ensued between the parties. (Tr. 24-25). Since defendant was a farmer and had no reason to make these trips, and when he refused to take plaintiff into his confidence, plaintiff became worried and upset. (Tr. 25).

During the second and third years of their marriage, partly because of the fact that the defendant would not purchase groceries or pay for groceries that plaintiff purchased, and partly because of the fact that he was frequently away from home for several days at a time as hereinbefore stated, plaintiff was compelled to use her money for groceries and household incidentals, and this condition continued more or less during the second and third years of their marriage and it became gradually worse. (Tr. 14-16).

The defendant became very indifferent with respect to offering to support the plaintiff, and considerable controversy arose between the parties because of his failure

to support her, in view of the fact that he was operating a large farm and presumably had a good income. During 1945 and 1946, the plaintiff was also pestered with bill collectors who called on the telephone and also came to the house to collect bills against the defendant, and which annoyed the plaintiff considerably. (Tr. 18-19, 23-24).

In July, 1946, defendant invited plaintiff to accompany him to the Bear River State Bank at Tremonton, where he was then banking. After they arrived there, plaintiff was surprised to learn that defendant had lured her there to sign a note and mortgage for a loan, in order, as he explained to enable him to buy cattle for his son Sidney, so that the latter could engage in the cattle business. (Tr. 50-51). In view of the fact that defendant then owed a considerable number of old bills, had trouble with the Lewiston State Bank, (Tr. 23) and had failed to re-pay plaintiff the \$1,100.00, which he had previously borrowed from her, (Tr. 30) and moreover was not producing an income from a very good farm, she refused to sign the note, and as a result thereof, the defendant became very resentful with the plaintiff, and on the return trip from Tremonton he exhibited a quarrelsome attitude (Tr. 23) and, after arriving home they continued to quarrel all day. (Tr. 25). The plaintiff then concluded that she and the defendant could not live together with any degree of harmony, happiness or success, so she decided to pack her things and furniture and move back to Logan. Tr. 25).

When plaintiff separated from defendant in July, 1946, she returned to Logan and lived temporarily with her daughter and son-in-law. Shortly thereafter, they moved to Preston, Idaho, and plaintiff purchased their

home. (Tr. 26-27). Meanwhile, during the late summer and early fall of 1946, defendant visited the plaintiff at Logan more or less frequently with a view of reconciliation, and during September or October, 1946, they resumed cohabitation and lived together in plaintiff's home in Logan. (Tr. 26).

The record reveals (Tr. 31-34) that dissention again arose between these parties during the winter of 1946-47. On or about February 19, 1947, plaintiff consulted attorney Dobbs at Ogden, (Tr. 33) and as a result of her visit, Dobbs communicated with defendant by letter, advising him of plaintiff's visit and requesting defendant to call at Dobb's office (Pl. Ex. F.). About that time defendant was intending to sell the 80 acre tract of land, and in view of his lack of support for the period of their marriage, plaintiff refused to sign the deed, without a support agreement; and in consequence whereof the parties hereto, executed this agreement (Pl Ex. D.) of February 29, 1947, which called for repayment of loan made by plaintiff to defendant in 1944, upon which \$1,100.00 was owing. Tr. 30). And, because defendant had failed to support the plaintiff or meet the ordinary household expenses, plaintiff desired to fortify her position by requiring defendant to agree in writing, to provide \$100.00 a month "as an allowance for home and personal use," (Pl. Ex. D. Tr. 34) and when defendant executed the same on February 27, 1947, plaintiff signed the deed to convey the 80 acre tract. But after the deed was executed, defendant refused and neglected to pay plaintiff the monthly allowance of \$100.00 Tr. 34) and also the \$1,100.00, owing on the note.

In describing defendant's conduct towards plaintiff since their reconciliation in fall of 1946, the record discloses: (Tr. 34).

Q. From 1947 up to the time you filed your complaint in this action, did you live with the defendant during that period of time? A. Off and on. Q.. What do you mean by "off and on?" A. Well, he'd get into tantrums and if I wouldn't do everything he wanted to do he'd go for two or three weeks, and last summer he left for three months and didn't support me. He left me without any money or anything like that, and sometimes he's gone a week and sometimes three or four days. You never know. (Tr. 34).

Q. And then you had your final separation just about the time this complaint was filed, did you not? A. Yes.

Q. And what led up to that, Mrs. Hendricks? A. Well, his staying out nights, not coming home. He'd leave four or five o'clock in the morning and wouldn't get home until two, four, five o'clock in the morning. Things like that.

Q. The next morning? A. Yes. Sometimes he wouldn't come at all. He didn't support me. He gave me some money but not very much, and he wrote bad checks right and left.

Q. And did people contact you with respect to these bad checks? A. They certainly did. Q. By telephone or in person? A. Some in person, some by telephone.

Q. And how did that affect you, Mrs. Hendricks? A. *It disturbed me terribly.* Q. *Had you been accustomed to that?* A. *Never.* (Tr. 35).

Q. Now I'll ask you this general question, Mrs. Hendricks. During this period since about September or October of 1946 up until the time this action was filed, in a general way have you been able to get along very well with the defendant? A.

In a general way I'd say no, and it's been mostly money matters all the time with us. Q. Has that affected your health and your well-being? A. Well, yes, it's been a lot of worry and trouble with it all through my married life. Q. Have you had quarrels with the defendant as a result of his conduct? A. Yes. Q. And have they been frequent? A. Yes. Q. *And has that affected your well-being and peace of mind?* A. *Certainly it has.* (Tr. 37). Q. Mrs. Hendricks, from your experience with the defendant, do you know now or do you believe you could live with him with any degree of success? A. No. Q. You think it would affect your health if you were living with him? A. *That and my sanity.* (Tr. 44). (Emphasis supplied).

Plaintiff testified that defendant became intoxicated quite frequently during the time she lived with him. (Tr. 137). He was arrested for drunken driving at Smithfield, Cache County, about December 20, 1948, by Highway Patrolman Ed. Pitcher. This occurred during the nighttime. Defendant admitted his plea of guilty to this charge and payment of a \$100.00 fine, (Tr. 160-161) and his driver's license was revoked for the duration of one year. (Tr. 137-138).

Sometime in the year 1950, the defendant was driving his car easterly on second north street in Logan, about midnight, in what two Logan Police Officers, who were following him, considered to be in an unlawful manner. (Tr. 130). They stopped him and took him home, leaving his car parked at second north and main streets. (Tr. 131). Officer Ray Jones testified that, "We thought it best to take him home and not let him drive at the present (that

time.” (Tr. 130). After arriving at plaintiff’s home, plaintiff and defendant engaged in an argument, so the officer’s took defendant in their car and they rode around for a considerable length of time and, until they considered that he was sober enough to drive his car home. (Tr. 131). On this and other occasions defendant seemed to be under the influence of something, whether liquor or something else. Defendant admitted to plaintiff that he had smoked marijuana on several occasions. (Tr. 187).

When these parties were married, plaintiff owned an interest in the family home and in the sale thereof she received as her share \$1,200.00. She also owned the business property on main street in Logan, from which she received a monthly rental of \$125.00. The taxes on this property amounted to about \$25.00 per month. (Tr. 57). Thus she had about \$100.00 clear above taxes. When defendant loaned \$1,300.00 from plaintiff in 1944. (Tr. 30) she borrowed this amount from her bank for him and repaid it in monthly payments of \$50.00. Plaintiff testified (Tr. 57) this amount, “all went for our living, Vic (the defendant) had the money and one way or the other it went for our living.” (Tr. 57). Thus it appears that the said rental of \$100.00 from July 1, 1943, to the time the property was sold on October 31, 1946, amounting to \$3,600.00, was used to pay off defendant’s loan and for household support, and the \$1,200.00 received from her interest in the home, all amounting to \$4,800.00 was spent by plaintiff directly for defendant’s benefit.

When plaintiff and defendant separated in the summer of 1946, she had no home in Logan, so she purchased the home in which she is now residing. And in order to

purchase the same it became necessary to sell her business property, which was sold in October, 1946, from which sale she received the net amount of \$21,065.00, (Tr. 28). Plaintiff paid \$6,000.00 for the home, (Tr. 27) and approximately \$3,000.00, for interior painting, wallpaper, carpets, drapes and remodeling, or a total of \$9,000.00. She paid \$2,750.00 for a car and at the time of trial she had two war bonds of net value of \$1,640.00, or a total of \$13,390.00. When this amount is subtracted from \$21,065.00, it leaves a balance of \$7,675.00 which amount was expended by plaintiff for household expenses between October, 1946, and March 1, 1952, when this action was filed. When \$7,675.00 is added to \$4,800.00 it will be seen that plaintiff contributed \$12,475.00, toward supporting herself and defendant during their married life of 8 years and 8 months. And the evidence will show that defendant lived upon the plaintiff's income which is definitely proven by plaintiff's checks, and her bank statements offered and received in evidence. And defendant has not denied that the above amount was spent for family and household expenses.

Defendant has farm property at Lewiston, consisting of 154 acres of good irrigated farm land valued at \$350.00 per acre with improvements. (Tr. 4, 5). He also has certain warehouse property located near his home which he values at about \$1500.00. (Tr. 170). Thus the real property according to a conservative value would be approximately \$55,000.00. In January 1951, the defendant's boys intended to purchase this property, including all machinery and equipment and defendant then fixed the sale price at \$68,000.00. (Tr. 41). The mortgage indebt-

edness at time of trial was \$20,400.00. (Tr. 4). Defendant had two trucks in which he had an equity of about \$4,000.00. (Tr. 167-168). He also had a 1950 model Chevrolet. The farm without improvements is rented for the current year at a cash rental of \$5,000.00, and the property taxes are approximately \$600.00. (Tr. 164). Defendant is receiving a net rental income this year of \$5,400.00 (Tr. 164).

The foregoing statement covers most of the pertinent facts in the case, however, if any facts have been overlooked, they will likely be covered in the discussion of the evidence in the several points raised.

The plaintiff brought this suit asking:

1. For a decree of divorce dissolving the marriage contract.
2. Awarding to plaintiff the expenditures made for household support in the sum of \$12,475.00.
3. For a reasonable property settlement or, in lieu thereof a reasonable alimony.
4. Reasonable attorneys fee.
5. Costs of suit.

Statement of Points Upon Which Appellant Intends to Rely for Reversal of Judgement and Decree.

1. The Court erred in making it's findings of fact number four, it's conclusions of law and decree that plaintiff's complaint be dismissed on the merits with prejudice. (R. 7, 8, 9).

2. The Court erred in making it's findings number five, "That each of said parties were guilty of crimination and recrimination, one against the other," (R. 7) because there is no pleading or evidence to support the same.

3. The Court erred in striking the plaintiff's testimony and evidence. (Tr. 218-235).

4. The Court erred in refusing to award to plaintiff alimony and a property settlement, and in making the following portion of finding number three, viz,— "and used the proceeds thereof mostly for her own use and benefit." (R. 7, 8, 9).

5. The Court erred in refusing to award plaintiff's attorney a reasonable fee.

ARGUMENT

Point 1. The Court erred in making it's findings of fact number four, it's conclusions of law and decree that plaintiff's complaint be dismissed on the merits with prejudice. (R. 7, 8, 9).

It is very apparent from the courts oral findings made at the conclusion of the trial on June 9, 1952, that plaintiff had proven a case against the defendant on the grounds of cruelty as alleged in her complaint, as will appear from the following oral findings made by the court:

"The court feels that a divorce should be granted." (Tr. 206).

"The court finds the parties can never live together and that a divorce should be granted." (Tr. 207)
The court further found:

“If I can do it legally I want to grant them both a divorce, or I want to grant a divorce without referring to who gets it.” xxx “but on the whole case it does appear there should be a divorce.” (Tr. 207).

From the foregoing findings it definitely appeared that the plaintiff had produced sufficient evidence to entitle her to a divorce, but the court apparently did not want to create the enmity of the defendant.

It also appeared that the court did not want to assume the task of making a property settlement which plaintiff included in the prayer of her complaint. In this connection reference is made to the following oral finding, made by the court on June 23, 1952.

“Can I grant both parties the divorce or can I grant a divorce without referring to who gets it? That becomes important, as you will appreciate, because the court has in mind making certain property orders, and if I grant her a divorce I feel compelled to do certain things I wouldn’t otherwise do. I won’t grant either party a divorce. It’s a question of granting both of them a divorce or dismissing the proceedings on the merits, both of them being guilty of such acts of a criminal nature that the court cannot conscientiously grant a divorce to one side and brand one party as a guilty person and embellish another one as a lilywhite person entitled to a kind of relief this court should grant. So please do some research. *If I have a chance I’ll grant a divorce to both parties. Whether I can do it or not I don’t know.*” (Tr. 207). Italics added.

On June 23, 1952, in open court, the court made the following statement:

“Let the record show that both counsel are now present, as well as Mr. Hendricks. Mr. Nelson, as I indicated heretofore, unless somebody wants to suggest a stipulation or something, I’m going to direct Sjostrom to prepare findings of fact and conclusions of law and decree dismissing both the complaint and the counterclaim on the merits with prejudice. But if counsel care to make a suggestion to the court, or if you want to make a stipulation I’ll grant a divorce to both parties against each other.” xxx “What I would like to do is grant a divorce to both parties. They both have children, and there might be some ego advantage to each party to feel that they had each won the case. But in view of the dearth of authorities under which I dare do that, *I won’t do it unless you stipulate to it.*” (Italics added).

When the parties could not agree upon a property settlement, the court entered its formal findings, conclusions and decree on July 31, 1952. (. 7, 8). In paragraph two, the court finds as follows:

“That since about the month of May, 1944, defendant has treated plaintiff cruelly, causing her great mental and physical distress, as follows: “That said defendant has frequently become intoxicated, has frequently stayed away from home overnight without just cause, has exchanged “mash” notes with women friends, once or twice has threatened to do bodily harm to the plaintiff, all of which actions has caused the plaintiff great mental distress.”

As an apparent offset to the foregoing findings, the court’s finding number four is as follows:

“That since said marriage the plaintiff has also been guilty of cruel treatment of defendant, to the

extent of causing defendant great mental distress and travail, in this: That said plaintiff has been a frequent user of of intoxicating liquors, that she deserted and abandoned the defendant's domicile and residence at Lewiston and moved to Logan without just cause and excuse, that she wrongfully refused to sign a mortgage to the Bear River State Bank at Tremonton, which mortgage was asked for in good faith by the defendant in furtherance of his business, that plaintiff wrongfully accused the defendant of being a drug addict to a certain police officer of Logan City and attempted to have the defendant incarcerated and jailed on that charge."

It is respectfully submitted that the court erred in making finding number four in view of the fact that the court had already entered it's finding number two, which entitled the plaintiff to a divorce from the defendant. From an examination of the record, it will be seen that there is no substantial evidence upon which the court could make the findings contained in number four. There is no evidence in the record that plaintiff has been a frequent user of intoxicating liquors. There is no evidence in the record to prove that plaintiff deserted and abandoned the defendant's domicile when she moved from Lewiston to Logan, in July of 1946. Plaintiff's testimony is to the effect that for two years immediately prior to that time, defendant had treated plaintiff cruelly and things were going from bad to worse. (Tr. 15-17, 24, 25). And moreover, the evidence shows that within three months after plaintiff left the defendant as aforesaid, they became reconciled and lived and cohabitated together as husband and wife. (Tr. 26). Thus defendant condoned whatever cruelty, if any, theretofore existing between the parties. And

assuming, but not conceding, that plaintiff wrongfully refused to sign a mortgage to the Bear River State Bank, which was prior to their separation in July, 1946, upon the aforesaid reconciliation thereafter between the parties, (Tr. 26) plaintiff's refusal to sign said mortgage was also condoned. There is no testimony in the record that plaintiff accused defendant of being a drug addict. The undisputed testimony on this question was testified to by the police officers. The officers were called to plaintiff's residence because defendant was creating a disturbance there. On another occasion when defendant was found driving easterly on second north street in Logan City on the lefthand side of the street by two police officers, he was taken into custody by them and taken to his home. The plaintiff as well as the officers observed that there was something wrong with the defendant on that occasion. (Tr. 130). There is absolutely no testimony in the record that plaintiff at any time, attempted to have the defendant incarcerated and jailed.

However, the court seemed to overlook the fact that the defendant was arrested at Smithfield and charged with driving his automobile while under the influence of liquor. To this charge defendant entered a plea of guilty and paid a fine of \$100.00, and his drivers license was revoked for one year. This was admitted by defendant. (Tr. 160-161).

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