1953

Gladys P. Hendricks v. Brigham Victor Hendricks : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

FACTS

While plaintiff has set forth in her brief a purported statement of facts, we think a reading of the entire record will disclose that plaintiff has, in many respects, overstated or at least greatly colored the facts. Her statement of the facts would lead one to conclude that her testimony was the only testimony offered in the case. This, of course, was not true. Then also it must be remembered that in a divorce action

the trial court has an opportunity to see the witness, consider her demeanor while on the witness stand and thereby obtain a better impression of the situation than can be obtained from reading the "cold record." In this case plaintiff attempted to prove her case in three separate stages. On the first stage plaintiff testified in full and rested. A reading of this testimony is quite enlightening. She complained principally of money matters and interference by a son of defendant. She stated that she had never lived on a farm before, that the first year on the farm at Lewiston they got along pretty well but that the second year was not so good. There was family interference, and that she purchased part of the groceries (Tr. 32); that she had an income of \$115.00 a month which was later raised to \$125.00 per month, which she spent for living expenses; that the third year matters got worse. There was family trouble with Vic's son and that on two or three occasions during the second year and possibly more frequently during the third year Vic would go away and remain overnight. "Our trouble was mostly bickering over money." (Tr. 35). It is interesting to note that during her recital of family troubles, not a word was said as to defendant drinking to any excess. Not a word was said about his carrying on with other women. Not a word was said about so-called "mash" notes or anything of the kind. In her own language their troubles were principally over money matters. She complained that Vic didn't give her all the money that she felt she was entitled to receive, and she claimed that she was spending the rentals collected by her for family expenses. On cross-examination she admitted that out of the monthly income was deducted the taxes on her own

property which amounted to approximately \$25.00 per month. She also admitted that she had borrowed money from the bank and that \$50.00 per month out of the monthly income was applied to the payment of this loan (although she now claims that the loan has never been repaid). She also admitted that Vic gave her money but her sole complaint was that it was insufficient to maintain her standard of living. The record showed that the plaintiff was the owner of considerable property, that she kept and maintained her own bank account, that she spent her own money as she saw fit without in any way consulting with her husband, that she operated her own automobile, that she made loans to her son by a previous marriage, that she purchased an automobile for him, that she was a woman of rather extravagant tastes and apparently quite improvident on the question of spending money.

After she had rested her case the defendant testified concerning the marital difficulties. He admitted that he had had some financial reverses, that he was heavily indebted and that he was unable to give plaintiff all the financial aid which she seemed to demand. However, he furnished her a good home on a farm and contributed regularly to her support. He produced checks going back to the year 1945 (he was unable to find checks antedating this date). His checks showed that during the year 1945 he gave Mrs. Hendricks or paid out for her use and benefit the sum of \$576.75; in 1946 the sum of \$1059.67; in 1947 the sum of \$1557.87; in 1948 the sum of \$2336.82; in 1949 the sum of \$1303.80; in 1950 the sum of \$2787.07; and in 1951 the sum of \$1672.04. (See plaintiff's Exhibit No. AA). He further testified,

and we think there can be no question as to this fact, that in addition to the checks above referred to he paid out in cash for groceries, household expenses, etc. additional sums which he could not specifically list but which he estimates to be nearly as great as the total amount of the checks, so that this was not a case where the plaintiff was left without means. It was a case where the plaintiff was discontented and disgruntled with living on a farm and not being given all of the money which she thought the defendant ought to supply her with. The cold facts are that the plaintiff simply did not like the quiet and somewhat secluded living on a farm, and she became dissatisfied. Imagine her complaint that two or three times during a whole year the defendant remained away from home overnight, no suggestion of any improprieties committed by him at any time.

The defendant then offered evidence in support of his answer and counter-claim. He testified, and there doesn't seem to be any particular dispute about it, that immediately following the marriage they established their home on the defendant's farm in Lewiston, that the plaintiff brought her furniture with her from Logan, that plaintiff gave away most of defendant's furniture to members of the family, that they completely re-furnished the home and apparently made it very comfortable and livable. He corroborated the fact that during the first year they got along very well, but apparently during the second and third years there was some discord, mostly money matters. Defendant contends that he gave plaintiff money regularly to support the family, which consisted only of the two of

them except for a period when plaintiff's son lived with them, yet plaintiff appeared to be disgruntled and dissatisfied. She didn't like living on a farm, she apparently did not care to mix socially with the farmers in Lewiston, she evidently had little to do and it is quite apparent that she began showing evidences of dissatisfaction.

Defendant testified that they had very little trouble from the time of the marriage until 1946. He admitted that during this period of time he was away from home a few nights, during which time he was engaged in business transactions (Tr. 107-108), but he states that he did not think the plaintiff made any particular objection to that. During the summer of 1946 defendant's son returned from the Army. He was married and lived on adjoining property. Defendant had previously been in the dairy business and had the facilities for going back into the business, but lacked the capital to do so. He and his son had some discussion as to again restocking the farm with dairy cows and allowing the son to operate the farm. The evidence further shows without conflict that the defendant was doing considerable trucking and as suggested he was heavily in debt. He concluded, therefore, to make a loan from the Bear River State Bank in order to provide capital for purchasing some dairy cattle and pay some of his pressing obligations. However, when the subject was discussed with the plaintiff she objected and refused to go along with the deal (Tr. 109), so defendant took the plaintiff to the Bank at Tremonton for the purpose of having her sign a note and mortgage. When she got there and learned the object of the visit she absolutely

and unequivocally refused to sign any note or mortgage and so they returned to Lewiston without closing the loan. No doubt a quarrel did ensue between them. Defendant felt that plaintiff should have joined with him in the consummation of the loan. She evidently disagreed and so without further ado she packed all of her belongings, ordered a van and left defendant's home practically stripped of its contents. She returned to Logan and refused to live any longer at Lewiston. At that time she advised defendant that she needed no help from him and she could manage her own affairs without his assistance.

There is some dispute as to the time before any attempted reconciliation was effected. Defendant contends that he remained on the farm for better than a year. The plaintiff contends it was about three months. However, apparently the parties' attempted some kind of a reconciliation. Plaintiff in the meantime had repurchased her home which she had previously sold to her son-in-law and she had spent quite lavishly in remodeling, redecorating and refurnishing the same. From that time until the filing of the complaint there seemed to have been intermittent trouble between the parties. Defendant wanted plaintiff to come back to the farm. Plaintiff refused and insisted on living in Logan. This did not create an atmosphere of good will between the parties. Defendant, being a farmer, had to leave early in the morning and if he put in a full day on his farm he could not return until late at night. This annoyed the plaintiff, she being used to city life felt that they should have an early dinner and she resented waiting dinner until his return, with the result that defendant,

if he did come home, would find it more convenient to eat at a restaurant. But on the contrary to avoid frictions and turmoil he would remain for considerable periods at the farm, cooking his own meals and getting along as best he could.

During this period plaintiff decided to further improve her home and without any consultation with defendant she incurred a debt in excess of \$2400.00. She paid \$1200.00 and demanded of defendant that he pay the remainder, which he did. This was a considerable time after he had borrowed the \$1100.00 from her. He contends that this payment was made to her in discharge of the debt. She claims it was not. And so it went—bickering and turmoil in which plaintiff apparently contributed her share.

Finally, because defendant came home whistling and in apparently a friendly mood, plaintiff called the officers and made the direct charge that defendant was addicted to the use of drugs and she wanted him arrested. She made this charge on one or two different occasions. The defendant testified positively that he had never touched drugs, and the court found this to be true. After defendant had offered his evidence and rested, then plaintiff came to the second act of the play. She asked the court's permission to reopen her case when court reconvened on April 28, 1952, (Tr. 143.)

Then for the first time she attempted to inject into the case the question of gambling, something she had entirely omitted in her case in chief. Her complaint seemed to be that the defendant sometimes played the slot machines; however, it is quite apparent that the

plaintiff enjoyed the same recreation except she contends that she played with smaller coins than the defendant. Apparently her greatest complaint arose from the fact that on one occasion while they were at Malad defendant won \$50.00. Plaintiff asked him to split with her his winnings, and he gave her only \$5.00, stating he was going to use the rest of it to buy a suit. (Tr. 154-155). They then went to Downey and they played the slot machines, where he again won enough to pay for their dinner. However his luck changed and he lost the \$50.00 which he had won. The plaintiff's chief complaint, therefore, seems to be that the defendant (foolish man) could not always win at the slot machines.

She then for the first time injected into the case alleged intoxication of the defendant. Apparently in the first act of the drama she had neglected to mention either the gambling or the alleged drinking and had insisted that their principal trouble was merely over money matters. On cross-examination plaintiff admitted that she also partook of intoxicating liquors on occasions and that they had both drunk socially (Tr. 158). The case was again closed.

On Monday, June 9, 1952, further discussions were had with the court and the case continued until July 7, 1952. After the court had indicated his views concerning the matter, plaintiff's counsel stated that plaintiff wanted to testify again, and so on the 28th day of July, 1952, we entered Act 3 of the drama.

After the court had announced how he felt about the matter and indicated an intention to find against

both parties, the plaintiff moved the court to again reopen the case and allow her to offer further evidence. The court indicated some impatience with plaintiff because of the piecemeal way in which she had presented her evidence, but the court indicated that he would again allow plaintiff to offer some additional testimony of cruelty provided it was not cumulative in character.

The plaintiff then for the first time testified that she had gone through the defendant's desk during the summer of 1951 and had found some so-called "mash" letters, which were marked AA, BB and CC. The plaintiff admitted that she had these exhibits in her possession and knew of their existence prior to the date of the trial. She offered no explanation as to why she had not gone into this question and offered them as a part of her case. It is true that after she had offered these exhibits the court struck the testimony, but we fail to see wherein the plaintiff was prejudiced in any way by reason of this ruling because the court notwithstanding his previous ruling included in his findings that "he exchanged 'mash' notes with women friends." This evidence which the court ordered stricken was the only evidence with respect to this matter and notwithstanding the court's order he considered the evidence which was offered and made it a part of his finding. Irrespective of this fact plaintiff is in no position to complain because the court expressly found defendant to be guilty of cruelty. The only question which can be presented on this appeal is whether or not the court's finding of fact number 4 is supported by the evidence. We assert that the evidence hereinbefore referred to abundantly establishes cruelty on the part of the plain-

tiff. The defendant as the husband had the right to designate where the plaintiff should reside so long as he was providing a reasonably decent place for her abode. He was dutybound to provide reasonably for plaintiff's support, but he was under no legal obligation to do more than he was financially able to do. Certainly two people could and should have lived very comfortably on a farm on the amount of money which the defendant gave to plaintiff by check and the additional amounts that he spent for groceries and other household expenses from cash in his pocket. If the plaintiff wanted to spend her own money she had that right, but she certainly had no legal grounds to complain if defendant was doing all in his power to make her reasonably comfortable. The court found that the plaintiff deserted and abandoned the defendant's domicile and residence at Lewiston and moved to Logan without just cause and excuse. We think the evidence amply supports this finding. The court also found that plaintiff had been a frequent user of intoxicating liquors. This finding is amply supported by the evidence, as plaintiff admits that she and her husband both drank intoxicating liquors.

The court found that plaintiff wrongfully refused to sign a mortgage to the Bear River State Bank, which mortgage was asked for in good faith by defendant in the furtherance of his business. This finding is amply sustained by the evidence. All of that property belonged to the defendant before the marriage. Admittedly he was hard pressed for ready cash. He was attempting to better his financial position and put him-

self in a position where he could contribute more to plaintiff, but plaintiff stubbornly refused to sign the papers, and then she precipitated a quarrel which led to her abandoning the defendant.

The court further found that plaintiff wrongfully accused defendant of being a drug addict to certain police officers of Logan, Utah, and attempted to have the defendant incarcerated and jailed on that charge. We think the evidence amply sustains this finding. She sent for the officers and told them her husband was full of dope. If this charge were untrue, and defendant testified it was and the court so found, we can think of nothing which would cast a reflection on defendant's character more than to make such accusation to third parties. There was absolutely no justification for her making such an ungrounded charge except to bring the defendant into disrepute.

In addition to these facts we have heretofore suggested the court was best qualified to judge the parties from their demeanor and behavior on the witness stand and to draw reasonable inferences therefrom. Why did the plaintiff elect to only tell part of the story then the going seemed to be tough add to the story and again a third time repeat the same procedure? The court had a right to conclude and infer that plaintiff was not entirely honest and frank with the court. The court had the right to infer from the whole proceedings that much of the domestic difficulties was precipitated by the plaintiff's own conduct, so we contend that finding number 4 is amply sustained by the evidence, and that this court upon a review after indulging the trial court in a wide latitude of discretion should not disturb this finding.

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